THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jocelyn Newman
Circuit Court Judge

Common Pleas Case No.: 2018-CP-32-03103
Appellate Case No.: 2021-000658

R-Anell Housing Group, LLC, Respondent,

v.

Homemax, LLC, Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Thomas J. Rode, SC Bar No. 77480
15 Middle Atlantic Wharf
Charleston, SC 29401
Phone: 843-937-8000

-and-

Bradley D. Hewett, S.C. Bar No. 77924
1523 Huger Street, Suite A
Columbia, SC 29201
Phone: 803-726-0123

Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED
May 24 2022
SC Court of Appeals

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in awarding statutory prejudgment interest from March 24, 2018, when Respondent failed to plead prejudgment interest, where the amount sought was not a sum certain agreed to by the parties, and where there is no evidence that the amount claimed was payable on March 24, 2018, all of which are required by S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20?
- II. Did the trial court err in finding the economic loss rule barred Appellant’s negligence claim against Respondent because Respondent had no extra-contractual duties, where our Supreme Court has exempted residential construction from the economic loss rule, and where both South Carolina’s Code of Law and Code of Regulations impose duties on manufacturers of modular homes—such as Respondent—which arise independent of any contract?
- III. Did the trial court err in finding email evidence discussing problems with the waterproof plastic wrapping on one of the modular homes manufactured by Respondent was irrelevant when the issue here concerned Respondent’s alleged failure to properly waterproof a modular home before shipping, and where Respondent testified the wrapping on the subject home was installed with the same quality as the wrapping it installed on all other homes it manufactured?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant, Homemax, LLC (“Homemax” or “Appellant”) is in the business of selling modular homes in South Carolina. (R. p. 363). The respondent, R-Anell Housing Group, LLC (“R-Anell” or “Respondent”) is a foreign entity in the business of manufacturing modular homes for sale in South Carolina. (R. p. 363). Homemax served as a dealer of modular homes manufactured by R-Anell pursuant to a “Dealer Agreement.” (R. pp. 333-35). This lawsuit concerns two separate transactions for two separate modular homes manufactured by R-Anell and sold to Homemax—the “Christofoli House” and the “Brown House.” (R. pp. 12-14) (R. pp. 15-22). R-Anell, the plaintiff below, brought a claim for breach of contract against Homemax regarding payment for the Brown House. (R. p. 13). Homemax asserted counterclaims for negligence and breach of contract stemming from the Christofoli House transaction. (R. pp. 18-21).¹ The trial court directed

¹ Homemax also asserted a claim for Unjust Enrichment/Quantum Meruit, but voluntarily dismissed this claim at trial. (R. p. 220).

a verdict against Homemax’s negligence claim, and after the jury returned a verdict in favor of R-Anell, the trial court awarded R-Anell statutory prejudgment interest. This appeal followed.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The Purchasing Process

Although Homemax and R-Anell had a relationship going back to 2014, the parties entered into a written dealership agreement on January 1, 2017. (R. pp. 333-35). However, this agreement did not layout the specific details of how individual transactions were to be conducted. Rather, the evidence presented at trial regarding the parties’ course of dealing demonstrated that if a Homemax customer was interested in an R-Anell home, the customer would select their desired model, options, and trims, then Homemax would request a quote from R-Anell. *See e.g.*, (R. pp. 313-16). If approved, Homemax would submit a purchase order to R-Anell for the specific floor plan model. (R. pp. 317-19). Homemax would pay for the homes through a line of credit that Homemax had with a third-party lender—this source of funding being known in the industry as “floor plan financing.” (R. pp. 38-39). After receiving a purchase order R-Anell would confirm the payment source before it would begin manufacturing the home. (R. p. 365). Manufacturing usually began four to six months after R-Anell received the purchase order. (R. p. 96).

The modular homes were manufactured in two halves which would be joined together once delivered to the final home site. Therefore, to avoid exposure of the interior components to the elements before the modules were joined together, the final stage of production required R-Anell to wrap the house in a water-tight plastic. (R. p. 63). R-Anell was responsible for delivering the home to its final destination and would hire contractors to unwrap and erect the two halves of the house on the foundation. (R. p. 56). The floorplan funding source would typically remit payment directly to R-Anell within 14 days after the house was shipped. (R. p. 106).

The Christofoli House

In December of 2016, Homemax ordered a modular home from R-Anell for Mr. and Mrs. Christofoli. (R. pp. 336-39). Production of the “Christofoli House” was completed before the site preparations were completed at the final home site. As a result, on May 5, 2017, R-Anell moved the Christofoli House to an outside storage lot where it remained for twelve days. (R. p. 366). It was significant to R-Anell, for budgetary and accounting reasons, that the Christofoli House ship as soon as possible. (R. p. 100). Therefore, even though the Christofoli home site was not ready, on May 17, 2017, R-Anell shipped the Christofoli House to Homemax’s retail location, where it remained (outside) until June 26, 2017, when it was finally delivered to the Christofoli’s home site. (R. p. 367). Once at the final home site, contractors hired by R-Anell unwrapped the house to discover one of the modules (Unit A) had suffered significant damage because of water intrusion. R-Anell instructed its contractors to remove all the water damaged components, and initially began efforts to repair the home. (R. p. 143). However, on September 21, 2017, R-Anell informed Homemax that it would not be undertaking any further repair efforts, and that it would be Homemax’s responsibility to complete the remediations. (R. p. 343). Homemax ultimately lost the deal with the Christofolis, incurring damages of \$203,301.96 caused by the damage to the home. (R. p. 367).²

The Brown House

On September 1, 2017, R-Anell submitted a quote for a house to Homemax’s customers Mr. and Mrs. Brown. The quoted price was \$142,660 but was “subject to verification.” (R. p. 313).

² This included costs of remediating the water damage to the house, paying interest to its floor plan source for the house, paying utilities for the house, paying legal fees to defend litigation ultimately brought against it by the Christofolis, and \$94,000.00 paid by Homemax to the Christofolis to settle the lawsuit.

However, due largely to the ongoing dispute over the problems with the Christofoli House, on February 27, 2018, R-Anell sent a letter notifying Homemax that it was terminating its relationship with Homemax and stating it would not “sell or build any additional retail sold homes for Homemax from the date of [February 23, 2018].” (R. p. 340). At the time R-Anell sent this letter, it had not yet delivered the Brown House. Despite some initial confusion about the status of the Brown House, subsequent to sending this letter, R-Anell clarified it did not intend to abandon the Brown House. (R. p. 109).

As the Brown House neared completion R-Anell’s transportation coordinator Melissa Allen took over the transaction to verify payment terms and coordinate delivery. (R. pp. 122-23). R-Anell’s internal documents, when provided to Ms. Allen, showed the Brown House transaction was to be “COD” (*i.e.*, “cash on delivery”). (R. pp. 130-32). However, Ms. Allen testified that she knew Homemax had never purchased a home COD, but always utilized a floor plan financier. (R. p. 125). Therefore, it came as no surprise, when in a phone call between Ms. Allen and David Fautley (owner of Homemax) several days before the Brown House was planned to ship, Mr. Fautley advised that he had not agreed to COD for the Brown House, but instead that it would be floor planned. (R. p. 125). After this call, Ms. Allen confirmed that the purchase was “pending” with one of Homemax’s floor plan financiers. (R. p. 126).

Ordinarily, R-Anell would not ship a home until Ms. Allen confirmed that the floor plan financing had been approved. (R. p. 111). In this case when Ms. Allen went to check the floor plan status, she confused the Brown House with a recent prior purchase from Homemax that had a similar serial number. (R. p. 112). Under the mistaken belief that the floor plan had been approved on the Brown House, R-Anell shipped the Brown House to Homemax. (R. p. 111). Because shipment would not typically occur prior to floor plan approval, since the Brown House was

shipped, all parties believed the floor plan was approved, and R-Anell did not expect or request payment on delivery. *See* (R. p. 79) (In explaining why no money was collected on delivery Phillip Hathcock, general manager of R-Anell, testified it was because a “floor plan [financier] was supposed to pay for it **not COD.**”) (emphasis added); *see also* (R. p. 117) (explaining why funds were not demanded on delivery, Albert Gurner testified that R-Anell was of the expectation that the house was to be paid by a floor plan financier and that as a result “**we weren’t looking for a COD check at that point.**”) (emphasis added); (R. pp. 125-26) (Melissa Allen testified that she spoke with Mr. Fautley—the owner of Homemax—and both she and Mr. Fautley were of the understanding the Brown House would be financed through a floor plan financier and not COD); *see also* (R. pp. 199-200). (David Fautley testified about the expectation that floor plan financing would pay).

Several months passed before it was discovered that the floor plan financier had not paid for the Brown House. (R. pp. 100-01). Only then did R-Anell seek payment from Homemax on the invoice for the Brown House—although this invoice amount was different than the amount shown on the quote it submitted to Homemax for the Brown House. *See* (R. pp. 313-19). However, by this time, Homemax had incurred substantial damage and costs stemming from the debacle with the Christofoli House—this exceeding the amount demanded by R-Anell for the Brown House—and therefore, Homemax declined to pay. This suit followed.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY & TRIAL COURT RULINGS

R-Anell commenced this action for breach of contract regarding the Brown House. (R. pp. 12-14). Meanwhile, Homemax asserted counterclaims for negligence and breach of contract related to the Christofoli House (R. pp. 15-22). Homemax asserted its damages stemming from the

Christofoli transaction fully offset any amounts it owed to R-Anell for the Brown House. (R. pp. 15-22).

The matter was tried before a jury in Lexington County between June 7 and 10 of 2021. *See* (R. pp. 23-312). During the trial, Homemax attempted to introduce email correspondence between R-Anell and its delivery company dated May 17, 2017—the same day the Christofoli home was delivered—in which the delivery company was complaining the house it carried for R-Anell the day before “had all kinds of problems with [the] plastic” wrapping and as a result the drivers needed additional tape to address these problems. (R. pp. 341-42). Notwithstanding that Homemax’s claim focused on R-Anell’s failure to properly wrap the house, the trial court excluded this evidence on the basis that it was not relevant. (R. pp. 80-82).

At the close of Homemax’s case in chief, the trial court directed a verdict against Homemax on its claim for negligence, reasoning this claim was barred by the economic loss rule. (R. pp. 219-51). To support this, the trial court held that R-Anell had no duties beyond those set forth by contract and therefore, Homemax could not go forward on a cause of action in tort but was limited only to an action sounding in contract. (R. pp. 231-34). Therefore, the jury was never able to consider Homemax’s tort claim.

The jury found in favor of R-Anell on its claim for breach of contract related to the Brown House, and against Homemax on its claim for breach of contract related to the Christofoli House. (R. p. 308). Over Homemax’s objection the trial court awarded R-Anell prejudgment interest from March 24, 2018. (R. pp. 309-10); (R. pp. 147-55). Homemax timely appealed. (R. pp. 401-03).

LAW AND ARGUMENT³

This appeal presents three instances of reversible error. First, this Court should reverse the trial court's award of prejudgment interest because it is inconsistent with established law and unsupported by the evidence. Additionally, or in the alternative, this Court should reverse and remand for a new trial because the trial court erred in finding Homemax could only proceed on a contract theory and directing a verdict against Homemax's tort claim. Finally, this Court should reverse and remand because the trial court abused its discretion in finding that email evidence regarding problems with the Christofoli House and R-Anell's plastic wrapping was not relevant to this matter.

I. **The trial court erred in awarding statutory prejudgment interest from March 24, 2018, and therefore, this Court should reverse the trial court's award of statutory prejudgment interest.**

The trial court's award of prejudgment interest is inconsistent with established law and unsupported by the evidence. Not only did R-Anell fail to plead statutory prejudgment interest, to allow the trial court's ruling to stand would alter the law to permit statutory prejudgment interest anytime the plaintiff creates an invoice for the amount claimed. The question does not, and should not, turn on whether the plaintiff reduces the amount claimed to an invoice. Instead, the law inquires whether the amount claimed is capable of being reduced to a sum certain based upon the terms of the parties' *agreement*. Moreover, prejudgment interest is only assessable from the time the amount was payable. Here, there is no evidence the amount was payable on March 24, 2018—the date on which the trial court commenced the accrual of interest.

³ Pursuant to Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR the standard of review is addressed separately for each issue on appeal.

A. Standard of Review regarding the trial court’s erroneous award of statutory prejudgment interest.

This Court should reverse where the trial court’s award of prejudgment interest amounts to an abuse of discretion, which occurs when the award “conflicts with . . . established law [or] is not reasonably supported by the evidence.” *Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon*, 381 S.C. 417, 435-36, 673 S.E.2d 448, 458 (2009). Here the trial court abused its discretion in awarding prejudgment interest from March 24, 2018, because such an award is inconsistent with the law and not reasonably supported by the evidence.

B. Law and Argument regarding the trial court’s erroneous award of statutory prejudgment interest.

“In all cases of accounts stated and, in all cases, wherein any sum or sums of money shall be ascertained and, being due, shall draw interest according to law, the legal interest shall be at the rate of eight and three-fourths percent per annum.” S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20(A). “If pre-judgment interest is pled for in the complaint, it is allowed on obligations to pay money from the time the payment is demandable, either by agreement of the parties or by operation of law, if the sum is certain or capable of being reduced to certainty.” *Tilley v. Pacesetter Corp.*, 355 S.C. 361, 375, 585 S.E.2d 292, 299 (2003) (citation and internal quotations omitted). However, “our Supreme Court held pre-judgment interest should not be included in the judgment [when] it was not pled in the complaint or prayer.” *Dixie Bell, Inc. v. Redd*, 376 S.C. 361, 367, 656 S.E.2d 765, 768 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Town of Bennettsville v. Bledsoe*, 226 S.C. 214, 219, 84 S.E.2d 554, 556 (1954)); see also *McMillan v. S.C. Dep’t of Agric.*, 364 S.C. 60, 74, 611 S.E.2d 323, 330 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Pre-judgment interest must be specifically pled in order to be recovered.”) (reversed on other grounds by *McMillan v. S.C. Dep’t of Agric.*, 380 S.C. 212, 214, 670 S.E.2d 368, 369 (2008)).

Here, the trial court erred in awarding statutory prejudgment interest of 8.75% pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 34-31-20(A) from March 24, 2018, for three reasons: (1) because R-Anell failed to plead prejudgment interest; (2) because there is no evidence that the amount claimed is for a sum certain based upon calculations previously agreed to by the parties; and (3) because there is no evidence that the amount claimed was payable on March 24, 2018.⁴ Any one of these reasons, standing alone, warrants reversal.

1. R-Anell failed to plead statutory prejudgment interest.

As a threshold matter, R-Anell failed to plead a request for statutory prejudgment interest in its complaint. Rather, R-Anell's complaint alleges that contractual interest had accrued at the rate of 7% (not the statutory rate). (R. pp. 12-14). R-Anell's complaint is otherwise devoid of a claim for prejudgment interest pursuant to § 34-31-20(A). *Accord* (R. p. 151) (R-Anell conceding the 7% interest, as referenced in the complaint, "actually, **that is not the statutory prejudgment interest.**") (R. p. 151, lines 24-25) (emphasis added). At the close of R-Anell's case, Homemax moved for directed verdict on R-Anell's claim for interest. (R. pp. 147-54). To this the trial court found, and R-Anell conceded that the interest it prayed for in the complaint (*i.e.*, 7%) "is not a contract term [and] it doesn't derive from anywhere else." (R. p. 152). Consequently, the trial court determined it was "not appropriate" for R-Anell's claim for prejudgment interest to go before the jury but would be considered, if at all, by the court at the conclusion of the case. (R. pp. 152-53); *see also* (R. pp. 306-07) (wherein the court declined a question from the jury asking whether it could add interest).

⁴ There were 1,174 days between March 24, 2018, and June 10, 2021. Although not specifically set out in the Order, the trial court's calculation of interest "from March 24, 2018, to the date of judgment" is apparently calculated as daily interest on the verdict amount multiplied by these 1,174 days: *i.e.*, $((\$142,292.80 * 0.0875)/365) * 1,174 = \$40,046.65$.

While ordinarily the question of statutory prejudgment interest under Section 34-31-20(A) is a matter to be determined by the court, the trial court erred in awarding such interest in this case because R-Anell never pled it. *See Dixie Bell*, 376 S.C. at 367, 656 S.E.2d at 768 (“our Supreme Court held pre-judgment interest should not be included in the judgment because it was not pled in the complaint or prayer.”). The only interest R-Anell pled was contractual in nature for which it ultimately conceded was not supported by the evidence. (R. p. 151). (R-Anell conceding the 7% interest, as referenced in the complaint, “actually, **that is not the statutory prejudgment interest.**”); *accord* (R. pp. 12-14). Having failed to plead statutory interest under Section 34-31-20(A) the trial court committed reversible error in awarding such interest.

2. *The trial court erred in awarding statutory prejudgment interest because the amount claimed was not a sum certain as required by law.*

Second, and notwithstanding that R-Anell did not plead statutory prejudgment interest, there is no evidence that the amount claimed was for a sum certain based upon calculations previously agreed to by the parties. “[O]ur Supreme Court [has] explicated the sum certain requirement for prejudgment interest” by stating that “prejudgment interest is allowed on a claim of liquidated damages; *i.e.*, the sum is certain or capable of being reduced to certainty based on a mathematical calculation previously agreed to by the parties.” *Dixie Bell*, 376 S.C. at 370, 656 S.E.2d at 769 (*citing Butler Contracting, Inc. v. Court Street, LLC*, 369 S.C. 121, 133, 631 S.E.2d 252, 258-59 (2006)).

In this case, the trial court conflates the existence of an invoice with creating a *per se* entitlement to prejudgment interest. *See e.g.*, (R. pp. 311-12). The test is not whether there is an invoice for the amount claimed, but whether the amount due is capable of being made certain “by mathematical calculation previously agreed to by the parties.” *Id.* Had the legislature intended to make prejudgment interest dependent upon the plaintiff merely generating an invoice it could have

drafted Section 34-31-20 to say as much. But it did not. *Accord e.g., Hinton v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 357 S.C. 327, 333-42, 592 S.E.2d 335, 339-43 (Ct. App. 2004) (recognizing that the intent of a statute is to be gleaned from the language employed by the legislature and applying the principle of *inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*—the inclusion of one is the exclusion of another).

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