RECEIVED

May 24 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000658
Civil Action No. 2018-CP-32-03103

R-Anell Housing Group, LLCRespondent,

v.

Homemax, LLCAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

James S. Murray (SC Bar No. 73307)
Robert P. Mangum (SC Bar No. 103904)
Turner Padget Graham Laney, PA
209 Seventh Street, Third Floor
Augusta, GA 30901
jmurray@turnerpadget.com
rmangum@turnerpadget.com
706-722-7543
Counsel for Respondent R-Anell

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

B. Argument

Homemax argues it was error for the trial court to grant a directed verdict in favor of R-Anell on Homemax’s negligence counterclaim. (Homemax Br., pp. 17-19). Homemax’s argument must fail, as the Court correctly applied the economic loss rule to bar Homemax’s negligence counterclaim. Even if the directed verdict was not proper, this was harmless error, as the only evidence offered in support of Homemax’s negligence claim is the same evidence the jury rejected in rendering a verdict in favor of R-Anell and against Homemax. (*See Verdict*) (*See R. p. 308 and R. p. 344*).

“South Carolina’s economic loss rule provides that where a buyer’s expectations in a sale are frustrated because the product does not work properly, the buyer’s remedies are limited to those prescribed by the law of contract.” *Palmetto Linen Serv. v. U.N.X., Inc.*, 205 F.3d 126, 128

(4th Cir. 2000) (citing *Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber & Mfg. Co.*, 299 S.C. 335, 345, 384 S.E.2d 730, 736 (1989)). This is consistent with a majority of jurisdictions, which do not allow recover in tort on commercial contracts. See *Bishop Logging Co. v. John Deere Indus. Equip. Co.*, 317 S.C. 520, 529, 455 S.E.2d 183, 188 (Ct. App. 1995) (compiling citations from other jurisdictions). “[T]he Uniform Commercial Code, provides the exclusive rights and remedies under the economic loss doctrine to sophisticated parties in a commercial transaction when the product injures only itself and not other property belonging to the plaintiff.” *Id.* at 530, 189 (citing *Myrtle Beach Pipeline Corp. v. Emerson Elec. Co.*, 843 F.Supp. 1027 (D.S.C. 1993)). If commercial plaintiffs are permitted to bring negligence claims against parties with whom they contracted, then “the Uniform Commercial Code would be totally eviscerated, and the action of the General Assembly of South Carolina in enacting it would be rendered nugatory.” *Myrtle Beach Pipeline*, 843 F. Supp. at 1054.

The Supreme Court clarified in *Sapp* that the exception created by *Kennedy* “does not preclude a *homebuyer* from recovering in tort against the developer or builder,” reasoning that “[a] home is typically an individual’s single largest investment and is a completely different type of manufactured good than any other type of product that a consumer will buy...[m]oreover, courts have recognized that the transaction between a builder and a buyer for the sale of a home largely involves inherently unequal bargaining power between the parties.” *Sapp v. Ford Motor Co.*, 386 S.C. 143, 148, 687 S.E.2d 47, 49 (2009) (emphasis added). The matter has not been addressed at the appellate level in South Carolina, but federal courts interpreting South Carolina law have found that a general reference to violation of statutes or industry standard is insufficient to state a tort claim where a commercial contract exists between the parties. See, e.g., *Belfor USA Grp., Inc. v. Banks*, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91483, at *19 (D.S.C. July 14, 2016) (holding

“vague references to ‘common building practices’ and broad statements of work not being up to ‘code’ are insufficient to state a tort claim); *Cox House Moving, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co.*, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 55490, at *22 (D.S.C. Aug. 8, 2006) (finding “No South Carolina court has found that the violation of an industry standard can give rise to a special duty”); accord *Tri-Lift NC, Inc. v. Drive Auto. Indus. of Am.*, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6954, at *8-9 (D.S.C. Jan. 13, 2021). There is no appellate authority “under South Carolina law to allow an alleged violation of either statutory law or a regulatory standard to serve as an exception to the economic loss rule.” *Besley v. FCA US LLC*, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2200, at *14 (D.S.C. Jan. 8, 2016).

The economic loss rule applies to bar Homemax’s negligence counterclaim. This is an instance of a commercial transaction that is governed by the Uniform Commercial Code. (*See, e.g.*, Tr., pp. 464-465) (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 295, line 23-p. 296, line 3). The expectations of the parties were set entirely by contract, and any alleged damages flow, if at all, directly from a failure to perform the contract on the Christofoli Home. (*See Id.*). The damages sought by Homemax on its negligence claim reveal this to be true: Homemax claimed only to have suffered damages in not being able to close on their contract with the Christofoli family and in efforts to repair and remediate the Christofoli Home. (Def. Answer and Counterclaims, ¶ 32) (R. p. 18). To permit Homemax to recover in tort for damages flowing from its contract with R-Anell would “eviscerate” the UCC as adopted by the Legislature and render its provisions “nugatory.” *See Myrtle Beach Pipeline*, 843 F. Supp. at 1054.

Homemax cites *Tommy L. Griffin* as follows: “the question of whether the plaintiff may maintain an action in tort for purely economic loss turns on the determination of the source of the duty plaintiff claims the defendant owed.” *Tommy L. Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co. v. Jordan, Jones & Goulding, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 49, 54, 463 S.E.2d 85, 88 (1995). (Homemax Br., p. 18).

Homemax neglects to include that the Supreme Court also held that in order to show its damages flow from tort rather than contract, a plaintiff must demonstrate that the parties had a “special relationship” such that tort liability is justified. *See Tommy L. Griffin*, 320 S.C. at 55, 463 S.E.2d at 88 (stating “In most instances, a negligence action will not lie when the parties are in privity of contract. When, however, there is a special relationship between the alleged tortfeasor and the injured party not arising [i]n contract, the breach of that duty of care will support a tort action.”).

Homemax has not demonstrated in its brief that R-Anell had a special relationship with Homemax, nor has it offered a single specific extra-contractual duty to which R-Anell was obligated other than vaguely asserting R-Anell is subject to state and federal building codes and regulations. *See Homemax Br.*, p. 18-19. Homemax’s failure to identify this special relationship or duty is fatal to its argument. *See, e.g., Belfor*, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91483, at *19 (holding “vague references to ‘common building practices’ and broad statements of work not being up to ‘code’ are insufficient to state a tort claim”).

Homemax also argues it is entitled to claim the residential home buyer exception under *Kennedy*. *See generally, Kennedy*, 299 S.C. at 345, 384 S.E.2d at 736. To permit Homemax to recover in tort pursuant to the *Kennedy* exception would be an enormous expansion of that exception, as neither of the rationales explained in *Sapp* apply to Homemax. *Sapp*, 386 S.C. at 148, 687 S.E.2d at 49. Homemax is admittedly a volume dealer of homes, and so this is not its “single largest investment,” and as a commercial entity, it does not face the “inherently unequal bargaining power” that an individual consumer might face. *Id.* The Supreme Court already once overturned unwarranted expansions of the *Kennedy* exception in *Sapp*, and a reversal of the directed verdict on this point would be just that. *See Id.* at 150, 51.

Even if Homemax were entirely correct on its argument, it cannot show that the directed

verdict against its negligence claim was prejudicial at trial. This is because Homemax's breach of contract counterclaim, which was predicated on entirely the same facts as the negligence counterclaim, went to the jury. (*See Verdict*) (*See R. p. 308 and R. p. 344*). In rendering a defense verdict in favor of R-Anell on Homemax's breach of contract counterclaim, the jury necessarily considered all of Homemax's evidence regarding the manufacturing and shipping process, and the jury necessarily rejected every construction of the facts put forth by Homemax. (*See Id.*). Because the breach of contract and negligence counterclaims rely on the same operative facts that were already presented at trial, Homemax can make no showing of prejudice. *See Henson v. City of Georgetown*, 358 S.C. 133, 140, 594 S.E.2d 499, 502 (Ct. App. 2004).

Therefore, the economic loss rule operates to bar Homemax's negligence counterclaim, and the trial court committed no error of law in granting R-Anell's motion for directed verdict. To the extent R-Anell was not entitled to directed verdict, Homemax has not and cannot show prejudice that would justify remand for a new trial, since its negligence claim is predicated entirely on the same operative facts as its breach of contract claim.

III. The trial court properly excluded the email chain referencing a prior modular home, as it was not relevant to the issues presented at trial, and it would have been overly prejudicial to R-Anell to admit the email.

A. Standard of Review

As to the evidentiary issue, the admissibility of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court. *Johnson v. Sam English Grading, Inc.*, 412 S.C. 433, 448, 772 S.E.2d 544, 551 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing *R & G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 439, 540 S.E.2d 113, 121 (Ct. App. 2000)). "The court's ruling to admit or exclude evidence will only be reversed if it constitutes an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." *Id.* at 448, 388. "An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual

conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” *Id.* at 448, 388 (citing *Menne v. Keowee Key Prop. Owners’ Ass’n, Inc.*, 368 S.C. 557, 568, 629 S.E.2d 690, 696 (Ct. App. 2006). The trial court’s “ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 494-95 (2013) (citing *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006)).

B. Argument

Homemax has essentially two grounds for asserting the excluded email chain was relevant: first, that the portion of the email referencing the Christofoli Home being too heavy for shipment was relevant to the issues at trial, and second, that the email discussing prior issues with other homes on another day was relevant to the issues at trial. (Homemax Br., pp. 20-24). The excluded email chain is not cited herein because the email chain that Homemax sought to offer as an exhibit apparently was not preserved in the trial court record, and R-Anell objects to its designation in the record, or consideration on appeal, based on the apparent lack of preservation of the exhibit. (*See Tr.*, pp. 5-9) (R. pp. 23-27) (list of exhibits admitted at trial)). Even if Homemax is permitted to argue on this point, it cannot prevail. “Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Rule 402, S.C.R.E. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the irrelevant email chain.

On the first point, Homemax raises three reasons a portion of the email chain was relevant, none of which were presented at trial and thus are likely waived. (Homemax Br., pp. 21-22; *See Tr.*, pp. 115-118; 135-137) (*See R.* p. 72, line 10-p. 75, line 14; R. p. 80, line 21-p. 82, line 6). First, Homemax argues that an email regarding the Christofoli Home (Order Number 40876) was relevant because it said the home was overloaded with parts. Homemax draws three potential inferences: that Unit A was heavy because it already had water damage, that it could

have been damaged in transit, and that moving parts from Unit A to Unit B could have damaged the plastic on Unit A. (Homemax Br., pp. 21-22).

These are creative suggested inferences, but not reasonable ones. The jury's construction of the evidence must be reasonable, or its verdict may be overturned. *See Willis v. Floyd Brace Co.*, 279 S.C. 458, 460, 309 S.E.2d 295, 297 (Ct. App. 1983). The first suggestion, that the increased weight was due to water damage, would be an unreasonable conclusion since the plain language of the email stated that the weight was due to the parts in Unit A. (*See Homemax Br.*, pp. 21-22). The second suggestion, that the email could suggest damage in transit, does nothing of the sort, as it addresses the condition of the modular home *prior to* transit. (*See Homemax Br.*, p. 22). The third suggestion, that the email suggests that plastic wrap could have been damaged while moving parts from Unit A to Unit B, is directly contradicted by the evidence in the record. (*See Id.*). Phillip Hathcock of R-Anell testified that the wrap is only applied to the roof and the open-ended sides of the modular units and is specifically designed so that one can open the doors to the house and walk in and out, without damaging it. (*See Tr.*, pp. 138-139; 152) (R. p. 83, line 17-p. 84, line 21; R. p. 87, lines 9-18). Thus, none of the three are reasonable inferences, and there was no abuse of discretion.

On the second point, Homemax argues another part of same chain discussing a prior issue with another home on a previous day was relevant. (Homemax Br., p. 22-24). Though it has no bearing on the Christofoli Home, Homemax apparently argues that this email was relevant to establish a pattern of conduct or habit of improperly wrapping houses by R-Anell. (*Id.*). This email does not meet the standard to admit it as pattern of conduct or habit evidence.

As the Supreme Court has stated, Federal Rule of Evidence 406 is identical to South Carolina's Rule 406, SCRE. *State v. Brown*, 344 S.C. 70, 74, 543 S.E.2d 552, 554 (2001). The

Supreme Court acknowledged that the federal courts have had a difficult time determining the admissibility of habit evidence. *Id.* However, such evidence is only admissible “when the examples offered to establish such pattern of conduct or habit are numerous enough to base an inference of systematic conduct and to establish one’s regular response to a repeated specific situation.” *Charleston Marine Containers, Inc. v. Sherwin-Williams Co.*, 165 F. Supp. 3d 457, 467 (D.S.C. 2016) (citing *Wilson v. Volkswagen of Am., Inc.*, 561 F.2d 494, 511 (4th Cir. 1977)).

Habit evidence must be “specific, particularized conduct capable of almost identical repetition.” *Brown*, 344 S.C. at 74, 543 S.E.2d at 554 (internal citations omitted). At least more than two, and potentially more than five, instances of repeated conduct are necessary to demonstrate admissible habit or pattern evidence. *See Genesis Telecomms., LLC v. Moore*, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 142483, at *9 (D.S.C. Oct. 18, 2010) (citations omitted). Here, Homemax seeks to admit habit evidence regarding wrapping on prior homes, but it fails to meet these requirements of numerosity or specificity. (*See Homemax Br.*, 22-24). Homemax can only offer one example, where the plastic was corrected without issue, for the proposition that R-Anell has a propensity for improperly wrapping its houses. (*See Id.*). At the very least, the trial court committed no reversible error in excluding the email.

Even if Homemax could show the email chain was minimally relevant, as an additional sustaining ground, the email chain could have been excluded as unfairly prejudicial or for being likely to mislead the jury. Respondents may argue additional sustaining grounds that are not necessarily presented at trial. *I’On, L.L.C.*, 338 S.C. at 420-421, 526 S.E.2d at 723-724 (2000). “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”

Rule 403, SCRE. “A trial court has particularly wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections.” *State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012).

The email chain is irrelevant, but even if it had minimal relevance, the minimal relevance would be substantially outweighed by the prejudice to R-Anell. The entire chain was entitled “40876” – the order number for the Christofoli Home. (*See Homemax Br.*, p. 21; *See Tr.*, p. 143) (*See R.* p. 86, lines 3-8). Thus, at a glance, it appears that the wrapping problems were related to order 40876. This is misleading because closer inspection reveals the wrapping issue was for another modular (of course, this Court cannot inspect it, because the email chain is not preserved in record). Given the “wide discretion” afforded trial courts, the trial court was within its discretion to exclude the email chain. *See Lee*, 399 S.C. at 527, 732 S.E.2d at 228.

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